IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

2006-CA-02052

JULIE MABUS Appellant

v.

JERRY MCBRIDE Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

FELECIA PERKINS, ESQ. Mississippi Bar Number LAW OFFICE OF FELECIA PERKINS, P.A. Post Office Box 21 Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0021 Office: (601) 352-5053 Fax: (601) 355-0173 Counsel for Julie Mabus

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Statement of the Issues
Statement Regarding Oral Argumentv
Statement of the Case
Summary of the Argument
Law and Argument
Conclusion
Certificate of Service

ι.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases:

ĺ

ı.

٢

I.

1

[] []

1

1)

r . — .

1

| | | .

|

<i>Alexander v. Culp</i> , 705 N.E.2d 378 (Ohio 1997)12
Barnes v. Outlaw, 964 P.2d 484 (Az. 1998) 12
Brown v. Estate of Johnson, 822 So.2d 1072 (Miss.App. 2002)
Cole v. Buckner, 819 So.2d 527 (Miss. 2002)
Franklin v. Franklin ex rel. Phillips, 858 So.2d 110 (Miss. 2003)
Geneva v. Barr, 386 F.3d 485 (2d Cir.2004)
Holmberg v. Armbrecht, 327 U.S. 392, 66 S.Ct. 582, 90 L.Ed. 743 (1946)
Mabus v. St. James Episcopal Church, 884 So.2d 747 (Miss. 2004)
Pierce v. Heritage Properties, Inc., 688 So.2d 1385 (Miss.1997)
Powers v. Nassau Development Corp., 753 F.2d 457 (5 th Cir. 1985)
Prather v. Neva Paperbacks, Inc., 446 F.2d 338 (5 th Cir. 1971)
Prime Rx, LLC v. McKendree, Inc., 917 So.2d 791 (Miss. 2005)
Ratliff v. Ratliff, 500 So.2d 981 (Miss.1986)7
Robinson v. Cobb, 763 So.2d 883, 887 (Miss. 2000)
Russell v. Orr, 700 So.2d619 (Miss. 1997)6
<i>Tucker v. Hinds County</i> , 558 So.2d 869 (Miss.1990)6
Webb v. Jackson, 583 So.2d 946 (Miss.1991)6
Windham v. Latco of Mississippi, Inc., 972 So.2d 608 (Miss. 2008)
Zimzora v. Veterans Administration, 778 F.2d 264 (5th Cir. 1985)

Treatises and Articles:

11

, | |

ì

١

1

}

÷

i

, *1*

1

Moore's Federal Practice (2d ed. 1985).....

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1

ţ.

ţ

١

{

1

÷

- 1. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment for Jerry McBride. In granting summary judgment, the court confused the elements of a fraudulent concealment claim with fraudulent concealment used to excuse non-compliance with the statute of limitations.
- 2. The trial court erred in refusing to reinstate the breach of a fiduciary duty claim after it was revealed that the affidavits by Ray Mabus and McBride used to support summary judgment on that claim were lies.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Pursuant to Miss.R.App.P. 34(a), Appellant requests oral argument in this case.

Given the twenty-volume record, the facts are somewhat complicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Statement of the facts:

ţ

Julie and Ray Mabus were married in 1987. By 1997, the marriage had broken down. Ray Mabus suspected that Julie was cheating on him and set up a plan to catch her confession on tape. He told Julie that he wanted to meet with her and their pastor, Reverend Jerry McBride, to discuss the marriage.

McBride was the pastor at St. James Episcopal Church in Jackson. Both St. James and Jerry McBride were very important in Julie's life. Julie's parents were founding members of the Church (CP. 1980) and Julie had been active in the Church her entire life. For the five years that Julie's mother was sick before her death from cancer in 1986, McBride ministered to Julie and her father. CP. 936. Before Julie and Ray were married, they had several counseling sessions with McBride. CP. 937, 2001. (Premarital counseling was a requirement for marriage in the Episcopal Church. CP. 938.). McBride baptized the two Mabus daughters. CP. 942. Throughout her marriage to Ray, but particularly after Ray Mabus lost his reelection bid for governor, Julie would talk through issues with McBride – McBride acting as a professional counselor and her priest. CP. 943.

In the summer of 1997, Julie, increasingly unhappy in the marriage, told Ray that she wanted a divorce. CP. 948. Ray's response was that there could be no divorce for at least two years because he wanted to run for governor again. CP. 951. When Julie warned Ray that she would end up hurting him, he replied, "we're going to do a don't ask, don't tell." CP. 951. Thereafter, Julie began having an affair with a man she knew from college.. CP. 952.

In January 1998, Ray called Julie and told her that he may have been emotionally dishonest with her and that he wanted to meet with Julie to talk. He wanted McBride to be there with them. CP. 956. It was Julie's understanding that McBride would be there in his position as priest/counsel. CP. 956. In fact, Ray told Julie that "We need your priest here." CP. 957. Unbeknownst to Julie, Ray had met with McBride and told him that he would be taping their meeting without Julie's knowledge. CP. 1059, 1976, 1982.

1

L

i

1.

ł

When McBride was deposed about that meeting, he was asked what Ray Mabus told him when he met with him prior to their meeting with Julie. Before answering that question, McBride stated, "He's going to have to waive that privilege for me to be able to" CP. 1980. Since Ray Mabus was at McBride's deposition, Ray's lawyer then asked Ray whether he was willing to waive any privilege that he might have with regard to discussions he had with his priest, Jerry McBride. CP. 1980. The lawyers then agreed that all privileges would be waived. CP. 1980. According to McBride, he was there in his capacity as a preacher who had known Julie for 20 years and he was trying to save her marriage. CP. 1982.

At the meeting, Ray told Julie that he knew she was having an affair and that she had to break it off otherwise he would file for a divorce blaming her for the breakup of their marriage. CP. 957. During the discussion, "Julie expressed confusion as to why

-2-

McBride was present." Mabus. v. St. James Episcopal Church, 884 So.2d 747, 752 (Miss. 2004).

> McBride responded at times that he was there for Ray and at other times for both of them. Julie was combative and used profanity during the course of this confrontation and likewise begged and pleaded for custody of her children.

Id. When Julie asked McBride why he couldn't have called one of her women friends to be at Julie's side during the meeting, McBride stated, "Julie, I had no right to call anybody, that would have broken a confidence." CP. 796.

The tape of that day's meeting was transcribed and used by Ray Mabus's expert who testified that custody of the couple's two children should be with Ray Mabus and not Julie. Julie also suffered considerable emotional distress after realizing she had been so thoroughly betrayed by her priest.

Statement of the case:

Mabus filed her complaint against the Church, the Diocese and Jerry McBride on January 15, 2001, and an amended complaint two months later. CP. 906. The complaint included claims of breach of fiduciary duty, fraudulent concealment, invasion of privacy, negligent infliction of emotional distress and negligent supervision. CP. 906. On August 21, 2002, the trial court granted summary judgment on all of the claims against the Church and the Diocese and all but one claim against Jerry McBride. The Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed the grant of summary judgment that took out all the claims against the Church and the Diocese. *Mabus v. St James Episcopal Church*, 884

-3-

So.2d 747 (Miss. 2004). In that opinion, the Mississippi Supreme Court also affirmed denial of summary judgment for Jerry McBride on the fraudulent concealment claim and sent the case back for trial on the single claim. Mabus, 884 So. 2d at 763.

Appeals 1) Order

For SMJ to

Mc Bride

dein the reinstated

of her yearl of

Fiel. duk

McBride filed another motion for summary judgment in July 2006. CP. 652. Judge Bobby DeLaughter granted that motion in October 2006 (CP. 2743; RE. 24) and 5) Order entered final judgment. (CP. 2757; RE. 33). It is from that order as well as an order denying reinstatement of Julie's claim for breach of fiduciary duty (CP. 2748; RE. 29) that Julie Mabus brings the present appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Julie Mabus's claim against McBride was dismissed after Julie testified that she suspected, during the meeting, that McBride was taking Ray Mabus's side against her in Concerted the the divorce. She was never told by McBride or Ray Mabus, though, that the meeting was being taped for use in the Mabus divorce. In fact, more than once, McBride reminded Julie that he could not have called any of her women friends to be at the meeting for her because "that would break a confidence." McBride flat-out lied about the confidential nature of the meeting. Had Julie known that she was being set up, she would never have agreed to the meeting.

The trial court granted summary judgment for McBride using a standard for determining whether a plaintiff has good cause for failing to comply with the statute of limitations. In other words, the trial court held that since Julie suspected wrongdoing

-4-

to said S/c she superfeel wrodow, she was not prevened from direver

during the meeting, she was not prevented from discovering her cause of action against McBride. No doubt, the trial court made this mistake because there are two types of fraudulent concealment. One is a cause of action. The other is an excuse for failing to comply with the statute of limitations. In determining that Julie's suspicions were sufficient to defeat her claim, the trial court used a test that does not exist for the cause of action that is fraudulent concealment. Even if Julie suspected something was up, McBride's exhortations that the meeting was a confidential one made it a **jury question** on Julie's claim of fraudulent concealment.

The trial court also erred when it failed to allow Julie to reinstate her claim of breach of fiduciary duty. McBride was granted summary judgment on this claim after McBride and Ray Mabus submitted affidavits claiming that there was no way the meeting was ever considered to be a marriage counseling session; McBride was there only as a friend. In depositions given pursuant to the Mabus divorce, however, both testified that McBride was there as a priest to provide marriage counseling. Moreover, McBride's insistence during the meeting that the meeting was a confidential one supports Julie's claim for breach of fiduciary duty. Given that McBride was still in the case and that the previous partial summary judgment was based on fraud, it was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to refuse to reinstate Julie's breach of fiduciary duty claim against him.

-5-

2 type, of Gravel concelet

LAW AND ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment for Jerry McBride. In granting summary judgment, the court confused the elements of a fraudulent concealment claim with the fraudulent concealment used to excuse non-compliance with the statute of limitations.

Standard of review:

ł

A trial court's grant of summary judgment is reviewed de novo. *Prime Rx, LLC v. McKendree, Inc.*, 917 So.2d 791, 794 (Miss. 2005). "Summary judgment may only be granted where there are no genuine issues of material fact such that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Cole v. Buckner*, 819 So.2d 527, 530 (Miss. 2002). Further, the evidence must be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Id.*

According to Rule 56 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, a circuit court may grant summary judgment "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." "A fact is material if it 'tends to resolve any of the issues, properly raised by the parties." *Webb v. Jackson*, 583 So.2d 946, 949 (Miss.1991). The moving party bears the burden of showing that no genuine issue of material fact exists. *Tucker v. Hinds County*, 558 So.2d 869, 872 (Miss.1990). Additionally, the circuit court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Russell v. Orr*, 700 So.2d

-6-

619, 622 (Miss.1997). Because it is generally better to err on the side of denying the motion, it has been said that the circuit court must consider motions for summary judgment with a skeptical eye. *Ratliff v. Ratliff*, 500 So.2d 981, 981 (Miss.1986).

Law and argument:

÷

ł

ţ

Julie's remaining cause of action was one for fraudulent concealment against Jerry McBride. The trial court initially refused to grant summary judgment. After additional discovery, though, McBride moved for summary judgment on the grounds that Julie a) could not prove reliance; b) could not prove her ignorance of the falsity and c) McBride did not commit an affirmative act of concealment. CP. 652. McBride argued that Julie's claim failed because she testified that during the meeting she suspected McBride was conspiring with Mabus.

McBride's motion for summary judgment was based on Julie Mabus's deposition. In that deposition, Julie stated that, just prior to leaving the room, Ray Mabus told her that they had three options. The first was to reconcile. Julie testified that she then asked "what's door No. 2."

and he said, "It will be a fault divorce. You'll lose the children. You won't get anything," blah, blah, blah. And I said, "Okay." And then all the bells and whistles started going off, and I had remembered that Jerry and Ray had been spending a good deal of time together lately at my request, because I was trying to push Ray through the divorce process and I knew that Jerry had gone through it because Molly had just informed Jerry the month before that she was – the month before, which was the day after they got their divorce, Molly went to tell Jerry she was marrying this guy 25 years younger than she was. And Jerry had never been able to use that information against her ... So

-7-

these things started percolating up. And I turned around – and all the pieces started fitting together. And I turned to Jerry, and I said, "What are you doing here?' And he knew at that point he was caught.

CP. 657.

The trial court granted summary judgment for McBride stating as follows:

In successfully resisting McBride's first attack, Julie Mabus submitted her affidavit, which, as noted by the Court in ruling in her favor, asserted "that had she known that McBride entered into a conspiracy with her husband to confront her, while being taped, about her affair, she would have responded differently if not refused to participate in the conversation altogether.

Subsequent to the Mississippi Supreme Court affirming this Court's ruling and remanding the case back to this Court for trial, the parties launched into discovery, including the deposition of Julie Mabus. In that deposition, as well as in her new affidavit submitted in opposition to the instant motion. Julie has inexplicably taken an about-face, testifying that she **did** suspect that McBride entered into the exact conspiracy of which she claimed ignorance four years ago, and that she figured or believed that her husband was in fact taping the subject meeting. Most importantly, it is clearly evident, upon reviewing her deposition, her new affidavit, and all the transcribed versions of the taped encounter, that Julie came to these conclusions well before making any of the remarks that she contends in this lawsuit were used against her in her divorce case. The concessions completely negate the requirement that she was prevented from discovering anything that forms the basis of her claim due to anything that McBride did or did not do.

Although it is unnecessary, in order to establish a prima facie case of fraudulent concealment, for a plaintiff to show the reliance necessary in a traditional fraud claim, **it is necessary** under Mississippi law to show that the defendant: 1) took some action, affirmative in nature; (2) that was designed or intended to prevent; and (3) **which did prevent** the plaintiff's discovery of the facts giving rise to the fraudulent concealment claim.

CP. 2745-46; RE. 24 (emphasis in original).

Rid she Selieve it was sein

David.a, 431 50 2d 485 could of those clemets

The problem with this ruling is that the trial court confused the elements of a claim for fraudulent concealment with the elements required when fraudulent concealment is pleaded as an excuse for failure to comply with the statute of limitations.¹ As the Fifth Circuit has pointed out, the latter "doctrine, which is applicable to any cause of action, should not be confused with the doctrine applicable where the gist of the action itself is fraud, and the concealment is inherent in the fraud." *Prather v. Neva Paperbacks, Inc.*, 446 F.2d 338, 341 n. 2 (5th Cir. 1971), citing *Holmberg v. Armbrecht*, 327 U.S. 392, 66 S.Ct. 582, 90 L.Ed. 743 (1946).

ţ

ĺ

| | | The gist of McBride's summary judgment motion was that it wasn't fraud because Julie suspected something was up at some point during the meeting. In other words, McBride argued that Julie wasn't ignorant of the falsity. The trial court, though, didn't analyze the situation this way. In analyzing the issue as one of whether McBride had fraudulently concealed an underlying cause of action (thus excusing a failure to comply with the statute of limitations), the trial court found that Julie's **suspicions** were sufficient to alert her to her claim.

However, this wasn't a case of whether McBride concealed a cause of action Julie may have had and whether Julie had sufficient information to have constructive knowledge of her claim. This case was about whether McBride committed fraud by

-9-

¹ For instances of the fraudulent concealment as an excuse for failing to comply with the statute of limitations, *see, e.g., Windham v. Latco of Mississippi, Inc.*, 972 So.2d 608, 614 (Miss. 2008); *Robinson v. Cobb*, 763 So.2d 883, 887 (Miss. 2000).

inducing her to enter into a marriage counseling session that she rightfully believed to be confidential and allowed the meeting to be taped. <u>That Julie came to suspect during the</u> meeting that McBride was assisting Ray Mabus doesn't translate into Julie **knowing** that McBride was participating in a conspiracy to tape her marriage counseling session in order to publish it to third parties (i.e. Mabus's lawyers and the judge in their divorce action). **Particularly in light of the fact that McBride assured her during the meeting that it was confidential.**

The Mississippi Supreme Court correctly stated the elements of fraudulent concealment in its first opinion in this matter:

In order to establish fraud, the plaintiff must prove 1) a representation, 2) its falsity, 3) its materiality, 4) the speaker's knowledge of its falsity or ignorance of its truth, 5) his intent that it should be acted on by the hearer and in the manner reasonably contemplated, 6) the hearer's ignorance of its falsity, 7) his reliance on the truth, 8) his right to rely thereon, and 9) his consequent and proximate injury.

Mabus v. St. James Episcopal Church, 884 So.2d 747, 762 (Miss. 2004).

Julie had a right to expect that the information she revealed to McBride would be kept confidential. Indeed, McBride can't contest this fact. As related above, when, years later, McBride was deposed about the meeting, he was asked what Ray Mabus told him when Ray met with McBride prior to their meeting with Julie. Before answering that question, McBride stated, "He's going to have to waive that privilege for me to be able to" CP. 1980. Unbelievable as it may seem, McBride considered anything

Ray said to him that day (or in setting up the meeting) was said in confidence but not anything said to him by Julie. Indeed, during the taped meeting, Julie told McBride, "I didn't get in the middle of you and Molly either." CP. 757. And McBride replied, "You're also not our priest." *Id.*

Also during the meeting, just before McBride reminded Julie she was not a priest, McBride told Julie that needed to leave in order to visit with a family with a baby in the hospital. Julie stated, "Well, what do you wanna say to me? That baby, that family of that baby needs you more than I do." McBride responded, "I know that (unintelligible). I can't break a confidence. When Ray called me I had no choice." CP. 757. Later, when Julie tells McBride that she feels ambushed and that she wished she had a female friend by her side (CP. 794), McBride states, "Julie, I had no right to call anybody, **that would have broken a confidence**. I can't legally did that. I **know it would have broken a confidence for me to call somebody.** You understand that?" CP. 796. (emphasis added)² The transcript could not be more clear. Even after Julie realized that McBride was taking Ray Mabus's side³, McBride was assuring Julie that everything about the meeting was confidential. He made affirmative representations

assurances of confidebil

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