IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI 2006-CA-02052

JULIE MABUS

APPELLANT

VS.

JERRY McBRIDE

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Glenn Gates Taylor (MBN)
D. James Blackwood, Jr. (MBN)
Karen L. Gunn (MBN)
Christy M. Sparks (MBN)
COPELAND, COOK, TAYLOR & BUSH, P.A.
600 Concourse, Suite 100
1076 Highland Colony Parkway (39157)
Post Office Box 6020
Ridgeland, MS 39158
601-856-7200
601-856-7626 (Facsimile)

Robert A. Malouf (MBI 441 Northpark Drive, Suite C Ridgeland, MS 39157 601-957-6950 601-956-0987 (Facsimile)

ATTORNEYS FOR JERRY McBRIDE

July 7, 2008

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

The maker of a fraudulent misrepresentation is not liable to another whose decision to engage in the transaction that the representation was designed to induce is not caused by [her] belief in the truth of the representation but is the result of an independent investigation by [her].

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 547.

The principles set forth above are illustrated in Mississippi case law in *Franklin v. Lovitt Equip. Co., Inc.*, 420 So. 2d 1370 (Miss. 1982). In that case, the plaintiff filed a fraud action alleging that a tractor salesperson intentionally misled him as to the age of a John Deere front-end loader. The court concluded that, although the salesperson may have provided the plaintiff with the incorrect year model, the plaintiff did not rely on that representation in making the purchase. *Id.* at 1373. Rather, the plaintiff chose to purchase the machinery only after he took the loader home for a two-week trial period, during which the plaintiff concluded the performance was satisfactory. Accordingly, the court affirmed the lower court's conclusion that the plaintiff failed to establish *the reliance element* of his fraud claim. *See also In re Mercer*, 246 F.3d 391, 417 (5th Cir. 2001) (where hearer knows facts that would make it impossible for speaker to carry out intention, hearer cannot justifiably rely on stated intention).

The court reached a similar conclusion in *Rankin v. Brokman*, 502 So. 2d 644 (Miss. 1987). There, the owner of a lot and accompanying motor home, who was a 66-year old widow with a fourth grade education ("Brokman"), requested the assistance of an acquaintance ("Rankin') to negotiate on her behalf with a local bank in an effort to get the bank to agree to forbear foreclosure on her property. 502 So. 2d at 645. In the process of doing so, Rankin presented Brokman with a warranty deed and bill of sale conveying the lot and mobile home to Rankin, which Brokman signed. *Id.* Thereafter, Rankin collected \$225 from Brokman. *Id.* In the litigation that followed, Brokman claimed the \$225 as to be given to the bank to pay her own indebtedness; Rankin claimed the \$225 was a rental fee. *Id.*

Brokman sued Rankin seeking to cancel the deed and bill of sale on the grounds that her signature was obtained through fraudulent misrepresentation. *Id.* at 646. The lower court denied a motion to dismiss filed by Rankin. 502 So. 2d at 646. On appeal, the Court reversed, in part, on the grounds that, although she had only a fourth-grade education, she could read and write, and therefore *could not justifiably rely* on any alleged oral representations regarding what was the true nature of the warranty deed and bill of sale that she was signing. *Id.*

As in Franklin and Rankin, Julie Mabus did not rely on nor did she have a right to rely on McBride's silence about Ray's taping of the meeting. In no uncertain terms, Julie has admitted that well before she made any of the statements that she claims were later used against her in her divorce, her perception was that she was "facing two bitter angry co-conspirators, both of whose wives had cuckolded them, and they were conspiring against

me." By the bottom of page 5 of the transcript of the conversation, Julie viewed McBride as a "co-conspirator" and a "witness," and she believed that McBride had betrayed her at the "[v]ery, very deepest level." "[I]t was like I had been stabbed. I had been set up. It was all so clear..." Based on her own testimony, by the point in time that occurred at the bottom of page 5 of the transcript of the conversation, McBride was not someone upon whom Julie relied, or had a right to rely.

Then there is the impact of Julie's testimony that she figured or suspected that Ray was tape recording the conversation – not as an afterthought to her tirade – but at the *very time* Ray began enumerating her options for a divorce. RE. 5 (Julie Mabus Depo. at pp. 408-410.) Moreover, after she says that she came to the realization that (1) McBride as a coconspirator and (2) Ray was taping her, she testified that she made a conscious decision *not* to leave, but to stay in the meeting in an effort to determine what Ray knew and what Ray was going to offer her in the forthcoming divorce, property dispute, and custody battle. "[B]ecause at that point, I first wanted to see what Ray was going — what his next step was going to be. . . [b]ecause *I wanted to see what his offer was. I wanted to see what he wanted*." RE. 5 (Julie Mabus Depo. at 173-180) (emphasis added). It was only *after* Julie made that decision that McBride and Julie had their one-on-one conversation during which Julie has admitted McBride neither asked for nor obtained any confidential information.

Accepting Julie's deposition testimony, there is no basis upon which a reasonable juror could conclude that she relied, or had a right to rely, on McBride's inability, failure or refusal to tell her that Ray might be recording their conversation.

3. Julie Mabus Can Not Prove The Materiality, Ignorance Of Falsity, And Consequent And Proximate Injury Elements Of Her Fraud Claim

In order to prevail on her fraud claim, Julie Mabus is also required to prove by clear and convincing evidence that (1) McBride's silence was material, (2) she was ignorant of the falsity of McBride's silence, and (3) she suffered a consequent and proximate injury as a result of McBride's silence. *Mabus*, 884 So. 2d at 762-63. Again, her deposition testimony disposes of her fraud claim.

She has admitted that at the point in time that is the bottom of page 5 of the transcript of the conversation--well before she made the statements that she claims were later used against her--she "figured" or suspected that Ray was taping the conversation. (Julie Mabus Depo. at pp. 408-410). Despite that and the fact that she viewed and perceived Ray and McBride as two cuckolded husbands who were conspiring against her, she consciously decided not to leave, but to stay in the meeting and voluntarily participate in the conversation, so that she could gauge what her future ex-husband's posture and strategy would be in the ensuing divorce, property and custody battle. Simply put, curiosity got the better of her--she wanted to know, what did Ray know, and what Ray was going to offer her.

Thus, in the context of the elements that Julie is required to prove, McBride's silence about Ray taping the meeting—when Julie figured or suspected that Ray was doing exactly that—is not material, because Julie made the conscious decision to stay in the meeting and negotiate with Ray *after* she figured or suspected that Ray was recording the conversation.

Likewise, it is not possible for Julie to contend that she was ignorant of the falsity of

McBride's omission (that Ray might be taping the conversation) because she has admitted that, when Ray began enumerating her options for a divorce (at the bottom of page 5 of the transcript of the conversation), she assumed she was being taped.

Finally, McBride's failure to tell Julie Mabus that Ray might be taping the conversation could not have resulted in a consequent and proximate injury to her, when Julie figured or suspected from the bottom of page 5 of the transcript forward that Ray was recording the conversation.

Stated most simply, it is not possible to deduce how Julie was defrauded by McBride's failure to tell her that Ray might be taping her, when she figured or suspected that Ray was doing just that. Thus, in addition to not being able to satisfy the reliance elements, Julie can not establish the materiality, ignorance of falsity, and consequent and proximate injury elements of her fraud claim.

4. There Is No Evidence That McBride Committed An Affirmative Act Of Concealment

There are two circumstances in which a party is under a duty to speak. One such circumstance is when one party stands in a fiduciary relationship with the other. The other is when one party actively participates in the concealment of facts that a plaintiff claims should have been disclosed. Under that scenario, "[a]n affirmative act of concealment is necessary." Mabus, 884 So. 2d at 763. In the statute of limitations context, the Court of Appeals has told that "[t]o establish fraudulent concealment, the asserting party must show some act or conduct of an affirmative nature designed to prevent discovery of the claim."

Baldwin v. Holliman, 913 So. 2d 400, 409 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (citing Reich v. Jesco, Inc., 526 So. 2d 550, 553 (Miss. 1988)). "That conduct, designed to prevent discovery of the claim, must actually prevent discovery of the claim." Id. at 409 (emphasis added).

The commentators further tell us that an affirmative act of concealment requires more than mere silence or a mere failure to disclose known facts. 37 Am. Jur. 2d Fraud and Deceit § 203. "Active concealment of the truth" as an element of fraud, where there is no affirmative misrepresentation by a defendant, connotes steps taken by the defendant to hide the true state of affairs from the plaintiff. *Id.* (citing Kezer v. Mark Stimson Assoc., 742 A.2d 898 (Me. 1999)).

In this case, there has never been any allegation, much less any evidence, that McBride took any affirmative steps to purchase, place, operate or conceal the existence of any tape recorder. McBride played no part in recording the meeting, and took no affirmative steps to conceal the existence of any tape recorders.

After volumes of depositions and thousands of documents, there is absolutely no evidence in this case that McBride committed the *necessary* "affirmative act of conceal[ing]" that Ray was recording the January 7, 1998 meeting. Accordingly, Julie does not have a viable claim for fraudulent concealment, and in the alternative to the grounds cited above, the Court should grant summary judgment in favor of Jerry.

5. The Circuit Court Correctly Denied Julie Mabus' <u>Motion To Reassert Her Claim For Breach Of Fiduciary Duty</u>

The circuit court correctly denied Julie Mabus' motion to reassert her breach of

indicate it was antidatial

pidn't he

fiduciary duty claim. That claim was adjudicated to be without merit by a final, appealable order of the circuit court entered under M.R.C.P. 54(b), and that decision was affirmed by this Court. Additionally, Mabus' motion was not timely under M.R.C.P. 60(b).

The alleged factual basis for her July 2006 motion was her allegation that in their 2002 affidavits filed in this case, Ray Mabus and McBride lied about the January 1998 meeting not being a "marital counseling session." In support of that accusation, Julie Mabus relied on Ray Mabus' 1998 deposition testimony and McBride's 2000 deposition testimony, both in the Mabus divorce case. R. 773-780.

Julie Mabus, of course, knew about and had all of that testimony at the time that she opposed the 2002 motion for summary judgment on her breach of fiduciary duty claim. If she wanted to make the argument that either or both of them were lying in their 2002 affidavits, she had to do so then, not four years later. Instead, she waited until after McBride filed his July 2006 motion for summary judgment—when she was obviously concerned about being able to survive summary judgment on that claim—to first raise the accusation. Her motion was both barred by the Court's decision in *Mabus v. St. James*, and by the passage of time.

A. Her Motion Is Barred By Res Judicata and/or Law Of The Case

Julie Mabus' motion to reassert her breach of fiduciary duty claim is barred by the doctrine of res judicata and/or by the law of the case doctrine. The doctrine of "res judicata applies to bar an action where the parties or their privies have previously litigated a legal claim to a final judgment." *Johnson v. Howell*, 592 So. 2d 998, 1002 (Miss. 1991).

Moreover, res judicata prohibits litigation in a second action of the same claims or defenses that were *previously available* to the parties in the first action regardless of whether they were raised or decided in the prior proceedings. *Dunaway v. W. H. Hopper Assocs., Inc.*, 422 So. 2d 749, 751 (Miss. 1982).

Under Mississippi law, four identities must be satisfied in order to establish res judicata: "(1) identity of the subject matter of the actions; (2) identity of the cause of action; (3) identity of the parties; and (4) identity of the quality or character of a person against whom the claim is made." *Black v. City of Tupelo*, 853 So. 2d 1221, 1225 (Miss. 2003). If these four identities are present, all claims which have been or should have been litigated in a prior lawsuit are barred from relitigation. *Hogan v. Buckingham*, 730 So. 2d 15, 17 (Miss. 1998). Finally, "a party may not elude the bar of res judicata by alleging a new legal theory of recovery in a second lawsuit where the underlying facts and circumstances are the same as those involved in the first lawsuit." *Bullock v. Resolution Trust Corp.*, 918 F. Supp. 1001, 1009 (S.D. Miss. 1995) (citing *Walton v. Bourgeois*, 512 So. 2d 698, 702 (Miss. 1987)).

The law of the case doctrine provides that "[w]hatever is once established as the controlling legal rule of decision, between the same parties in the same case, continues to be the law of the case, so long as there is a similarity of facts." *Florida Gas Exploration Co.* v. J. C. Searcy, 385 So. 2d 1293, 1295 (Miss. 1980).

B. Her Motion Was Not Timely Under Rule 60(b)

Under M.R.C.P. 60(b)(1), a party may seek relief as a result of acts of "fraud by an adverse party," if that relief is requested "within a reasonable time," but "not more than six

months" after the entry of the judgment. In circumstances of "fraud upon the court," a party is not constrained by the six month time limitation; however, any motion for relief from a judgment must still be filed "within a reasonable time." Mississippi law clearly holds that allegations of perjury "are in the nature of claims of fraud against a party . . . rather than . . . fraud upon the court." *Brown v. Estate of Johnson*, 822 So. 2d 1072, 1073 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). Therefore, Julie Mabus' motion is governed by Rule 60(b)(1), and was required to be filed "not more than six months" after entry of the judgment. Her motion, however, was not filed until *almost four years after the entry of the Court's judgment*, which was not "within a reasonable time."

In Brown v. Estate of Johnson, 822 So. 2d 1072, 1073 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002), a former wife filed suit against her ex-husband's estate and her ex-husband's second wife to set aside a divorce judgment on the grounds that the husband allegedly committed perjury in disclosing his assets during the divorce trial. The former wife sought relief from the judgment two and a half years after it was entered, alleging that the perjury constituted fraud upon the court. The Mississippi Court of Appeals rejected the former wife's argument:

Brown's argument fails to note the distinction between an alleged "fraud . . . of an adverse party" and a "fraud upon the court" as the two are set out in Rule 60. The two concepts are not interchangeable. Fraud on the court (other than fraud as to jurisdiction) is fraud which is directed to the judicial machinery itself and is not fraud between the parties or fraudulent documents, false statements, or perjury. It has been held that allegations of nondisclosure in pretrial discovery will not support an action for fraud on the court. It is thus fraud where the court or a member is corrupted or influenced or influence is attempted or where the judge has not performed his judicial

function – thus where the impartial functions of the court have been directly corrupted.

Id. at 1073 (citing Bulloch v. U.S., 763 F.2d 115, 1121 (10th Cir. 1985)) (emphasis added).

Reasoning that the former wife's allegations of perjury were "in the nature of claims of fraud against a party to the proceeding rather than the kind of fundamental interference with the administration of the justice system that would amount to the more serious and more narrowly defined fraud upon the court," the court held that the former wife's request for relief from the judgment was governed by Miss. R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1). Because the former wife did not seek relief from the judgment within six months of the judgment as required by Rule 60(b)(1), the court concluded that the former wife's claim was time-barred.

As in *Brown*, Julie Mabus does not allege impropriety by the court or fraud in connection with the administration of the justice system. Rather, as in *Brown*, she is alleging perjury by an adverse party, which falls within Rule 60(b)(1) as an allegation of fraud by an adverse party. Consequently, she was required to file her motion not more than six months after entry the Court's Memorandum Opinion, on August 21, 2002. Waiting until July 2006 to file the motion is waiting too late.

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